
 

 
 

PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
AGENDA 

  
Thursday, March 24, 2022                                                                          Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
2.  Roll Call 
 
3. Approval of Minutes of March 10, 2022 
 
4. Public Hearing: 247 Hickory Street – Quinlan Variance (Ref #105) 

Public Hearing Request:  To permit construction of a new single-family home with a basement that is less 
than 80% of the area of the footprint of the house. Other: Plat of Resubdivision to combine underlying lots 
45, 46 and half of 47 in the McDonald’s Subdivision. (PIN: 19-09-28-225-006-0000) (Christopher Gruba) 

 
5. Public Hearing: 19948 Lily Court – Gale Variance (Ref #106) 

Public Hearing Request:  To permit construction of a rear yard addition to a single-family home on Lot 29 
in the La Porte Meadows Subdivision.  The property is zoned R-2, which requires a 30’ rear yard setback, 
whereas 14’3” is proposed.  (PIN: 19-09-15-205-019-0000) (Christopher Gruba) 

 
6. Public Hearing: 22660 S. Harlem Avenue – Gracepoint Ministries (Ref#107) 

Public Hearing Request: Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) from the AG Agricultural District and the R-
2 Single-Family Residential District to the R-2 Single-Family Residential District; Special Use Permit for a 
Planned Unit Development to allow a religious retreat center, including certain exceptions. (PIN: 19-09-36-
204-042-0000). (Mike Schwarz) 

 
7. Public Hearing: Olde Stone Subdivision 1st Addition (Ref #108) 

Public Hearing Request:  Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) upon annexation from E-R (Estate 
Residential) to R-2 (Single Family Residential).  Other: Plat of Annexation, Final Plat of Subdivision and 
Plat of Dedication to create a 15 buildable-lot addition to the Olde Stone Subdivision. (PINs: 19-09-31-400-
013-0000, 19-09-31-400-016-0010, 19-09-31-400-016-0020.) 
(Christopher Gruba) 
 

8.  Public Comments 
 
9.  Village Board & Committee Updates  
 
10. Other Business 
 
11. Attendance Confirmation (April 14, 2022) 
 
12.  Adjournment 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 



Page 2 

persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             1 

MINUTES 
MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT 

PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
        MARCH 10, 2022–VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    
 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

 
 
Call to Order: Chair Rigoni called the meeting to order at 6:30 P.M. 

 
 
Commissioners Present: Chair Maura Rigoni, Dan Knieriem, Will Markunas, 

Nichole Schaeffer, David Hogan, Ken Guevara 
 
 
 Commissioners Absent: None 
  
Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development 

Mike Schwarz, Senior Planner, Christopher Gruba, 
Director of Building Services, Adam Nielsen  

 
Elected Officials Present:  None 
 
Chair Rigoni noted that there were a number of members of the public in attendance.  
 
A. Approval of the Minutes from February 24, 2022  

 
Motion (#1): Approval of the minutes, as presented, from February 24, 2022 

 
Motion by: Knieriem Seconded by: Markunas 
 
Approved: (5 to 0, Guevara abstain) 
 

B. Workshop: 247 Hickory Street – Quinlan Residence Variation and Plat of 
Resubdivision 
 
Gruba presented the staff report. 
 

Chair Rigoni asked the applicants to come forward. 
 
Arthur and Gail Quinlan approached the podium.  Mr. Quinlan explained the need for 
the variation and gave examples of basement sizes in other houses in the 
neighborhood. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked staff to provide some historical background on the current 
basement size requirement. 
 
Adam Nielsen, Director of Building Services, explained that the requirement was 
established in 2013.  He added that this is not a Building Code requirement.  The 
Building Code only requires a basement or habitable room to be 70 square feet.  He 
further clarified that if this were a two-story home, they would actually be over the 
80% requirement. 

 
 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             2 

 
Commissioner Schaeffer stated that her question about the history of the requirement 
was answered.  She added that in full disclosure, she is a nearby neighbor and also 
lives on Hickory Street. 
 
Chair Rigoni commented that a potential ordinance amendment would also address this 
matter. 
 
Chris Gruba responded that this would be a fairly easy ordinance amendment.  The 
subject application is currently scheduled and was published for a public hearing on 
March 24. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem asked staff to explain Option 2 that was mentioned in the staff 
report presentation. 
 
Chris Gruba showed the basement floorplan on the overhead screen and video 
monitors and explained that Option 2 involved shifting the wall between the basement 
and the crawl space to meet the requirement. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked staff to be very clear for the public hearing regarding a one-story 
versus a two-story basement requirement. 
 

C.   Workshop: 23050 S. La Grange Road – Special Use Permits for outdoor storage of 
uncontained bulk materials and outdoor storage except uncontained bulk materials 
for a proposed landscape company 
 
Gruba presented the staff report. 

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to come forward. 

Rob Smith approached the podium.  He explained that the bollard lights would be to 
illuminate the driveway which is presently very dark. He explained the need for the 
new building for truck and equipment storage.  He further explained the need for the 
display area for customers to see what they do. 

Chair Rigoni asked about the timeline of the Buildings A and B that are marked “future 
building”. 

Rob Smith answered that Building A would be built now and the other buildings would 
be built in the future. 

Chair Rigoni asked the Commissioners for comments. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant how long ago he acquired the property. 

Rob Smith responded in May or June of last year. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked what is stored in the existing garage. 

Rob Smith answered some vans. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that when he drives by there, he sees those vans 
outside. 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             3 

Rob Smith responded that he did have to move them in order to store some plows.  He 
needs to make room to store everything inside the building. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked what is the status of the boarded up house. 

Rob Smith stated that it caught on fire. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that every time he drives by there I smore and more 
stuff on the property. 

Rob Smith stated that he can’t work on the property at this time due to the engineering 
review which is underway.  He added that some of the vehicles are there to work on the 
house.  He added that he can’t clean up the debris and dirt piles. He was told that he 
can’t touch those piles. 

Adam Nielsen, Director of Builder Services, stated that last response in not accurate. 
He explained that some work on the driveway was begun without a permit and that 
work was stopped. 

Rob Smith stated that when he bought the property he thought that he was in the 
county. 

Commissioner Knieriem commented that this corner is right across from a beautiful 
healthcare facility and is a gateway into the town. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that Mr. Smith’s master plan does not show the 
driveway onto Laraway Road. 

Rob Smith stated that this driveway was taken off the plan. 

Commissioner Markunas asked about the storage bins of materials. 

Rob Smith responded that these are for bulk materials. 

Commissioner Markunas asked staff if any new bins were added would he need a 
permit? 

Chris Gruba responded that any changes to the plan would require the applicant to 
come back before the Plan Commission/ZBA. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if there is any additional fencing proposed along the 
property. 

Rob Smith responded no. There is no need for it due to landscaping. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked Mr. Smith to clarify what he stated earlier about 
contaminated soil. 

Rob Smith clarified that he was referring to the concrete piles but it is not 
contaminated. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked Mr. Smith what is his intention for the house. 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             4 

Rob Smith responded that he found up that his contractor will be out there tomorrow 
but has not picked up a permit.  Anyone from the Village can stop out there and stop 
the work. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked Mr. Smith about the bins – if he has any intention to 
have uncontained piles of materials. 

Rob Smith replied no. 

Several members stated that this could be made a condition. 

Chair Rigoni asked Mr. Smith if the vehicles will be stored in the building. 

Rob Smith responded yes.   

There was some discussion about a condition that would specify what items may be 
included in the approval of the special use for outdoor storage.  Chair Rigoni would 
like a very well-defined area for the storage of vehicles.  Chair Rigoni stated that this is 
becoming more commercial than agricultural. 

Chair Rigoni asked staff if there is need for any screening of outdoor storage. 

Chris Gruba responded that there is no requirement in the Zoning Ordinance for 
screening of outdoor storage in the Agricultural District.   

Chair Rigoni stated that this is one of her concerns.  She asked a rhetorical question 
where in the Village do we have such outdoor storage so close to a residential area?  

A discussion ensued between Chair Rigoni and Mr. Smith regarding finding the 
balance for allowing outdoor storage but protecting the adjacent residents. 

Commissioner Hogan commented that he lives down the street from the property and 
has seen its evolution over the past 20 years.  He added that previously the only 
concern was the tall weeds.  Now it is the amount of materials and other things that are 
on the property. He staff asked if Riverside Medical Center was zoned Ag before it was 
developed. Gruba responded. Hogan added that the business on the other corner is a 
good example of a clean, well maintained property. 

Commissioner Schaeffer asked Mr. Smith will have people come through the office. 

Rob Smith responded yes. 

Commissioner Hogan stated that another concern is the traffic pattern with school 
buses, etc.  He asked Rob Smith if there would be a problem with being able to exit the 
site.  

Rob Smith responded that this is the reason he wanted to construct a second driveway 
onto Laraway Road. 

Commissioner Hogan asked when that work began. 

Adam Nielsen responded that the work was stopped because it was being done without 
a permit. 

Chair Rigoni suggested that Mr. Smith clean up the property before the public hearing. 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             5 

Commissioner Guevara asked if there could be a fence on the plan. There was some 
discussion on whether or not there will be customers coming to the property and if they 
will have a place to park. 

Rob Smith replied that he does not intend to invite customers to the property but if they 
want to stop and look at the display they can. 

Commissioner Guevara asked about lighting – is there any plan to install more 
lighting? 

Rob Smith responded that he had ComEd come out and install one light aimed at the 
driveway for his safety. 

Commissioner Guevara asked if there will be any other site lighting. 

Rob Smith responded no, just along the driveway. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if future Building B will be in the future. Rob Smith 
responded yes. But he may not build future Building A.  Can he explain this further? 

Rob Smith stated that he will only have one van and two pickup trucks, so those would 
stay outside.  He added that the only reason for removing the concrete foundations is 
for absorption. 

Commissioner Markunas suggests that if the future Building A is not built it is very 
important to know what happens to the existing shed. 

Chair Rigoni reiterated that the options should be spelled out clearly. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that this any approvals will be based on the submitted 
plans and no deviation will be allowed. 

Chris Gruba stated that the landscape plan should specify the species, size, location, 
etc. 

Chair Rigoni asked Chris Gruba to provide the applicant with an example of a 
landscape plan. 

Chair Rigoni asked Chris Gruba if this would be a change in use that would trigger 
IDOT review.  She added that she didn’t need to know now, but wanted staff to look 
into this before we get too far along. 

Chair Rigoni commented that the new building façade facing east should have some 
additional materials. She asked Mr. Smith for clarification on which building elevation 
in the packet is facing east.  

Rob Smith responded the image at the top right in the packet. 

Chair Rigoni summarized the issues: 

• The PC/ZBA needs to know what is being built now and what is proposed for 
the future. 

• Landscape plan, screening of bins. 
• How to make the new building more commercial looking than just a pole barn. 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             6 

• Generally cleaning up the property. 

Chair Rigoni asked Mr. Smith to work with staff. 

 
D.  Workshop: Misty Creek Townhomes – Northwest Corner of Laraway Road and 

116th Avenue – Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning); Special Use Permit for PUD; 
Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision  
 
Chris Gruba presented the staff report. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to come forward. 
 
Mike Flaherty, the applicant, approached the podium. He explained why they decided 
to pursue townhomes. The property is not viable for commercial development.  He 
stated that they sat down with the school district this morning and they want cash-in-
lieu of land and were happy with the project.  He stated that there is a berm easement 
agreement in place that if the school builds the berm, the developer will landscape the 
berm. He stated that the County wants three southbound traffic movements at the 
Laraway and 116th Avenue intersection. The developer will donate an additional 8 feet 
along 116th Avenue to accommodate the County’s intersection plan. 
 
Mike Flaherty explained the desired roadway geometry and stated that the goal is to 
avoid cut-through traffic. 
 
Mike Flaherty stated that they measured the existing sidewalk on Laraway and it is 6 
feet wide but it is overgrown so it looks to be less than 6 feet. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked Gruba what option they should be looking at. 
 
Chris Gruba responded Option 1. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that with Option 1 there would be a need for an exception on the 
30-foot corner side yard setback. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the members to start with commenting on the deviation from the 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer stated that she is in favor of the deviation. 
 
Commissioner Markunas stated that being a parent of a student at Hickory Creek, he 
thinks is fits better as residential than commercial.  He likes the fact that parents could 
walk their students to school. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that he agrees that residential is more appropriate. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that residential is more appropriate. 
 
Commissioner Hogan stated that he agrees with residential.  He suggested that there be 
a wiffleball field instead of a dog park. 
 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             7 

Commissioner Guevara stated that from a traffic standpoint residential makes more 
sense.  He asked if there have been any sales interest over the years.  
 
Mike Flaherty stated that there was just one inquiry several years ago. 
 
Commissioner Guevara asked about the landscaping. 
 
Commissioner Guevara asked about the west yard setback.   
 
Mike Flaherty responded it would be 32 feet. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked if there will be a berm along 116th Street. 
 
Mike Flaherty responded that they can add it to the plan. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer asked what some units are skewed.   
 
Mike Flaherty responded that slight turns among the building orientation creates more 
visual interest. 
 
Commissioner Schaffer asked if the path around the park will be continuous. 
 
Mike Flaherty responded yes. 
 
Commissioner Markunas stated he has no other comments. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem asked if there will be turn lanes along 116th Avenue. 
 
Mike Flaherty responded yes, these will eventually be added on Laraway. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that he is likes the idea of a doc park but questions the 
location.  Is it better suited to the back side? 
 
Mike Flaherty responded that this is a good question.  Their thought was to make it 
available to the public. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that the Village likes to avoid having fences on prominent corners. 
Knieriem stated that the dog park should be set back in the area where townhome units 
#23 and #24 are located. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that this could be a very popular dog park. 
 
There was some discussion about relocating the dog park to the northwest corner of the 
site, in the location of townhome units 4, 5, and 6, where it would be primarily used by 
the townhome residents. 
Schaeffer asked if this would be a 55 and over community. 
 
Mike Flaherty responded no. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked if they could discuss the architecture. 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             8 

 
The architect approached the podium. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the other members if there should be any variety in colors. 
 
The architect stated that there will be some subtle architectural distinctions between 
units, possibly the trim color. 
 
Schaeffer agreed that she desired to see some variation in color. 
 
Knieriem asked if they could provide some material and color samples. 
 
There was some discussion about whether there would need to be any on-street parking 
restrictions. 
 
There was consensus that Option 1 is the preferred street layout to slow traffic. 
 
Chair Rigoni recognized a resident to approach the podium. 
 
Jack Johnson, a nearby resident, cited a PUD requirement that 30 percent of the units 
shall be side load garages.   
 
Chris Gruba added that he should have mentioned that. 
 
Jack Johnson stated that he thinks it is getting a little dense for the area. He also has 
concerns about the view of all the garage doors.  He also has a concern that the view of 
the rear of so many big flat roofs from 116th Street is not desirable, even above the 
berm. 
 
There was a question about the 3-unit building elevations.   
 
Chris Gruba stated it is not in the packet but will be added for the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer stated that there will be landscaped berms along both 
Laraway Road and 116th Street but what will they look like? 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that the berms will be similar to those they are along the existing 
nearby developments. 
 
Jack Johnson, asked about the setback exceptions.   
 
Chair Rigoni responded that the interior setbacks will comply with R-4 requirements, 
but there is a need for an exception on one unit due to the 8-foot dedication along 
116th Avenue. 
 
Jack Johnson added that the sunrooms will bring the buildings closer to the rear lot 
lines to the point that they are very close and too dense.  He added that there will not 
be very much private green space on each lot and where will the stormwater go? 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that the engineering review will address this. 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             9 

Jack Johnson asked if there will be a path in the middle of the townhomes to the school 
property. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated she would not support that.  There was consensus from the other 
members not to have such a connection. 
 
There was some discussion about whether or not street signs could be added to state 
“local traffic only”. 
 
Chris Gruba responded this would be a question for the Department of Public Works. 
 
Jack Johnson commented that this project seems to be needing numerous exceptions 
and that is not the intent of the PUD regulations. 
 
Knieriem asked Mr. Johnson if he was interested in being on the PC/ZBA since he 
brought up some very valid points. 
 
Rita Starkey, a nearby resident, approached the podium and stated her concern about 
the location of the proposed dog park. She will have more comments on the next 
agenda item. 
 
Chair Rigoni summarized the issues to be considered: 

• Landscape Plan 
• Architecture 
• Dog Park location 

 
Commissioner Knieriem asked Mr. Flaherty what his timeframe is for the project. 
 
Mr. Flaherty responded that he hoped to break ground yet this year. 
 
Mike Schwarz stated that when this matter is presented for the public hearing and staff 
provides suggested motions, it would be appropriate for the first motion to be a 
recommendation from the PC/ZBA to the Village Board to amend the Comprehensive 
Plan as there seems to be consensus to do so, and this would be consistent with past 
practice for such deviations. 
 
Workshop: 8531 W. Lincoln Highway – Special Use Permit for an assisted living 
facility (Oasis Senior Living) 
 
Chris Gruba presented the staff report. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to come forward. 
 
Tom Carrol of Geotech Inc., on behalf of Oasis Senior Living, stated that he did not 
have anything to add to the staff report, as it was very thorough. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem asked Mr. Carrol if the driveway around the building was 
required by the Fire Department. 
 
Tom Carrol responded yes. 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             10 

 
Commissioner Knieriem asked if there would be any fencing along Route 30. 
 
Tom Carrol responded no. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem asked if fellow commissioners agreed. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked if the applicant could explain who the residents are and to explain 
their needs. 
 
Tanir Knan, the applicant, responded that the residents don’t generally go outside nor 
do they drive.  They would have two caregivers for every 15 residents, a chef, etc.  He 
stated that the west wing is all memory care. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem asked if there will be a turn lane off of Route 30. 
 
Tom Carrol stated no.  They would need to go to IDOT for such approval. 
 
Commissioner Markunas stated that it would be a good idea to make the building and 
site appear to blend with the residential area of Windy Hill.  
 
Commissioner Markunas asked how many trees will be removed and have many do 
they need to provide. 
 
Chair Rigoni restated that question. 
 
Chris Gruba responded by stating the requirement in the staff report. 
 
Commissioner Markunas asked why the building is set back so far from Route 30. 
 
Tom Carroll responded that there is a 130-foot setback requirement from Route 30. 
 
Chair Rigoni stated that she feels that there should be a 25-foot setback for the delivery 
area from the residential because it is an incompatible use. 
 
There was some discussion about the rear elevation of the proposed building and 
whether it would have windows facing south. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer asked if the storm sewer exists. 
 
Chris Gruba showed the sewer atlas and confirmed that it does exist. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer asked where the deliveries would occur. 
 
Tom Carrol responded that they would occur in the back at the south doors. 
 
Commissioner Schaeffer asked what door the deliveries go to. 
 
Tanir Knan responded into the middle door on the south side of the building. 
 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             11 

Commissioner Hogan asked how many residents there would be (78) in order to 
compare to the deliveries of a typical restaurant. 
 
Chair Rigioni stated that she would like a better understanding of the tree removal as it 
provides significant screening.  She wishes that there could be a more creative site 
design to preserve more of the trees. 
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that he sees some trees along the property line that 
might be looked at to be saved. 
 
Tom Carrol responded that they will take a closer look at these but site grading may 
require their removal. 
 
Commissioner Hogan stated that the existing trees provide a benefit to both the 
existing residents and the new residents of the facility. 
 
Commissioner Guevara echoes the comments about tree preservation and new 
landscaping to see how these offset each other. 
 
Commissioner Guevara asked where the trash enclosure is located. 
 
Tom Carrol stated it is at the southwest corner of the building. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked if there is a reason it is there any not on the west side to be away 
from the residents. 
 
Tom Carrol stated that they can look at relocating the trash enclosure further from the 
adjacent residences. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked for comments on the architecture. 
 
Commissioner Guevara stated that the elevation facing Route 30 should be prominent 
with more brick. 
 
Tom Carrol stated that the applicant was going for a residential look. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked staff to provide a color rendering of the building in the packet for 
the public hearing. She added that she would like to have more brick on the large wall 
expanse on Sheet 8.1.  She stated that they should either differentiate from the 
architecture of Windy Hill or go closer to it, but not be somewhere in the middle. 
 
Commissioner Hogan asked staff what the parking requirement is. 
 
Chris Gruba responded. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked the applicant how many visitor cars visit on average. 
 
Tanir Knan responded that typically there are only about 10 visitor cars per day. 
 
Rita Starkey, a nearby resident, approached the podium and stated that she conducted a 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             12 

demographic study of the area and there are 27 assisted living facilities.  She asked 
what will happen in the future when this facility is no longer needed. She stated that 
this will not be a quiet little place.  She does not want brick.  Everything should be 
stone like Windy Hill.  He windows face this site and the lights will destroy her view.  
She doesn’t want to see this vacant building in 15 years.  She doesn’t know if this is 
the right plan for the area.  The loss of trees is a concern.  Only a few buildings in 
Windy Hill face this property.  She is not against assisted living, but do the 
demographics.  She stated it should be aesthetically pleasing. 
 
Terry Colins, President of the Windy Hill Homeowners Association, asked staff who 
owns the land. 
 
Chris Gruba responded that he does not know but can find out. 
 
Terry Colins stated that the same owner owns the other side of the street as well.  
Maybe they could buy that parcel.  He stated that he is just making a suggestion.  
Leave the trees along the edge so people don’t see the building.  
 
Chair Rigoni summarized the issues: 
 

• It would be helpful to know more about the Windy Hill architecture. 
• Need for decorative fencing similar to what exists in Windy Hill today. 

 
Chris Gruba asked the Commission if they would prefer another workshop.   
 
There was consensus to have another workshop. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked Tom Carroll if they could stake the property so that the 
Commission and residents could visualize how close the property line is to the 
townhomes. 
 
Tom Carrol responded that they can do this and then will let staff know when it has 
been staked. 
 
 

E. Workshop: 22660 S. Harlem Avenue – Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) and 
Special Use Permit for a PUD (Gracepoint Ministries) 
 
Mike Schwarz presented the staff report. 
 
He noted that the applicants were seeking to use the existing 22.6-acre property as a 
religious retreat center, which would require rezoning the property from E-R to R-2 
and a special use permit for a PUD.  He noted that the existing property is under one 
tax parcel, but has “split zoning”, in which most of the property is zoned E-R with a 
smaller, southern portion zoned R-2 adjacent to Crystal Brook Subdivision.  He noted 
that the Future Land Use Map within the Comprehensive Plan designates the property 
as “Single-Family Detached Residential”, as well as the areas to the west and south of 
the subject property.  The areas to the north and east of the subject property are Forest 
Preserve lands and are designated as “Environmental Conservation” on the Future 
Land Use Map.  The driveway entrance to the property is gated.  The applicant has 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             13 

purchased the property and is registered as a 501C3 non-profit organization.  Schwarz 
noted that a PUD requires is a special use within every zone district except for the A-G 
zone district, in which it is not permitted.  As such, a rezoning to R-2 would be 
required to allow the proposed PUD, creating an avenue to use the property as a 
religious retreat center as proposed.  As part of the PUD, an exception would be 
required to allow 0’ of road frontage.  The parcel is currently accessed via a recorded 
access easement that extends across the Forest Preserve property to Harlem Avenue.  
The applicant submitted a site plan illustrating a proposed parking lot containing 46 
parking spaces, including ADA handicap accessible spaces.  The Frankfort Fire 
Protection District has been working with the applicant and they are aware that the use 
of the property as proposed will trigger life-safety codes for the house, guest house and 
gym, requiring the installation of fire suppression systems.  
 
The applicant, Joong “Jonathan” Lee, and his attorney Richard Kavanagh approached 
the podium.  Mr. Lee noted that the property would be used by ministers throughout 
the area and country to use for rest and relaxation.  It would not be open to the public.  
The occupancy of the property would vary throughout the year.  Approximately three-
four times per year, events may be held in which up to 150 people may visit the site.  
 
Commissioner Hogan asked if there would be staff on-site that would maintain the 
property.   
 
Mr. Lee responded that he and his wife would reside at the site half of the time, and 
another couple would reside the other half of the time.  Mr. Lee noted that he would 
personally make repairs and needed when necessary or call in contractors to perform 
maintenance when needed.  
 
Commissioner Hogan asked that what the uses of the property would be when the site 
is fully operational.   
 
Mr. Lee responded that on Saturdays, approximately 10-20 people would visit the site 
from the Chicagoland area and stay for a night or two.  On Sunday evenings after the 
ministers’ workday, approximately 20-40 people would spend the evening together.   
 
Commissioner Hogan asked about the non-profit status of the organization.   
 
Mike Schwarz noted that the property would be tax-exempt.  Mr. Lee stated that the 
organization does have property in other parts of the country and even though they are 
tax-exempt, they continue to pay taxes to their jurisdiction.  
 
Commissioner Markunas asked if Mr. Lee intended to pay taxes in Frankfort.  Mr. Lee 
responded yes.  
 
Chair Rigoni asked if someone would be on the property every day, but not necessarily 
at all times of the day.  Mr. Lee responded yes, the property will typically be visited or 
occupied daily.  Chair Rigoni noted that her primary concern was parking.  She noted 
that the construction of a parking lot for 46 spaces would be helpful but wondered if it 
was enough considering that the property could be used by up to 150 people at times.   
 
Mr. Lee responded that most of the people during the 150-person occupancy days 



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             14 

would travel to the site in small groups via minivans and that 46 parking spaces is 
actually more than they need.  He added that typically these small groups of people 
arrive on Friday night and stay through the weekend, typically leaving on Sunday.  
 
Chair Rigoni asked if the Cook County Department of Transportation and Highways 
needs to review the change in use. 
 
Mike Schwarz responded that he will look into this prior to the public hearing. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked why the property would be rezoned from E-R/R-2 to entirely R-2, 
instead of entirely E-R.  She thought that the E-R zone district would be more 
appropriate because of the size of the property.   
 
Mike Schwarz noted that he would examine that further.  Schwarz noted that the R-2 
zoned portion of the property is not currently part of the Crystal Brook subdivision, as 
it was purchased by the previous property owner as an additional buffer and 
consolidated into a single lot, but that portion of the property could potentially be 
subdivided and sold off as individual lots in the future, as they were originally part of 
the Crystal Brook Subdivision.  
 
Chair Rigoni noted that the applicant should be aware that as Crystal Brook 
Subdivision develops, a road will likely be constructed that abuts the subject property.  
 
Commissioner Shaeffer questioned whether there was any need for storm drains due to 
the construction of the parking lot.   
 
Mr. Kavanagh responded that the parking lot would likely sheet flow off the lot, but 
that he would ask the engineer, Brian Hertz, to examine this.  
 
Commissioner Markunas asked what the building existed north of the house.  Mr. Lee 
responded that it was actually a very large dog house.  
 
Commissioner Knieriem stated that he is generally supportive of the proposed use.  
 
Chair Rigoni asked staff to review the parking plan that was submitted this afternoon 
for parking demand. 
 
Chair Rigoni asked to clarify that the property would not be used as a typical church 
with worship services.   
 
Mr. Lee confirmed that it would not be used for church and worship services.  
 
Mike Schwarz noted that the applicant requested that the proposal be placed on the 
Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals agenda for March 24th as a public hearing 
and that a Legal Notice of the public hearing has been advertised in the newspaper.   
 

F. Public Comments 
 
 Chair Rigoni noted that there were no members of the public remaining in attendance 
so there are no public comments.  



Minutes of the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals – March 10, 2022                                                             15 

 
G. Village Board & Committee Updates  

Schwarz noted that the following matters that previously came before the PC/ZBA 
were acted upon by the Village Board at its meeting on March 7: 

 
• The Zoning Ordinance text amendment for accessory structures was passed by 

the Village Board.  
• A variance and Plat of Resubdivision for 240 Hickory Street (Kimsey 

Residence) was passed by the Village Board.  
• A Plat of Resubdivision for Lots 57 and 58 within the Olde Stone Subdivision 

(Williams Residence) was approved by the Village Board.   
• A variance to permit a sports court exceeding 144 square feet at 7403 Mayfield 

Drive was denied by the Village Board.  
• A variance to permit a sports court exceeding 144 square feet at 22960 

Hankins Court was approved (McCarthy Residence) by the Village Board. A 
variance to permit a sports court located less than 10’ from the side property 
line was denied by the Village Board.  

 
H. Other Business 

 
Chair Rigoni noted that there was no other business.  

 
I. Attendance Confirmation (March 24, 2022) 

 
Chair Rigoni asked the Commissioners to notify staff if they will not be in attendance 
on March 24th.  
 

Motion (#6): Adjournment 11:05 p.m. 
 
Motion by: Schaeffer            Seconded by: Knieriem 
 
Unanimously approved by voice vote. 
 
Approved March 24, 2022 
 
As Presented _____ As Amended _____ 
 
_____________________ /s/Maura Rigoni, Chair 
 
 
_____________________ s/ Secretary 



1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                           March 24, 2022 

 
Project: Quinlan Residence – New Construction 
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request(s): Request for a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(l) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning 

Ordinance to permit the construction of a basement that is less than 80% of the area of the 
ground floor (not including the attached garage); request for approval of a Plat of 
Resubdivision to consolidate lots 

Location: 247 Hickory Street 
Applicant:  Arthur & Gail Quinlan 
Prop. Owner:  Same  
Report By:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 
 

Site Details 
Lot Size: 0.36 Acres / 15,739 sq. ft.                                                           Figure 1: Location Map  

PIN(s): 19-09-28-225-006-0000 
Existing Zoning:  R-2 
Prop.  Zoning: N/A   
Building(s) / Lot(s): 1 buildings / 2 ½ lots 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Single-family Residential    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

North  Single-family Residential 
 

Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

South Single-family Residential     Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

East Single-family Residential    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

West Single-family Residential    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicants, Arthur and Gail Quinlan, are seeking to demolish the existing home located at 247 Hickory Street 
and construct a new, 3,492 square foot 1-story house.  The Zoning Ordinance requires that all new home 
construction include a basement that is at least 80% of the footprint of the house, not including the attached 
garage.  The ground floor area of the house, not including the garage or the open porch, is 2,886 square feet, 
requiring a basement area of at least 2308.8 square feet.  The applicant is proposing a basement that is 1,385 
square feet (48% of the ground floor area), requiring a variance.  The application also includes a request for 
approval of the Quinlan Plat of Resubdivision, which is a proposed consolidation of Lot 45, Lot 46 and half of Lot 
47, in the McDonald Subdivision for the purpose of removing the existing lot lines which run beneath the proposed 
home. A Plan Commission workshop was held on March 10th, 2022, and comments were provided to the applicant.  

Attachments 

• Plat of Survey, prepared by RT&A 
• Existing Conditions and Demolition Plan, prepared by RT&A, received 2.18.22 
• Site Plan, received 2.18.22 
• Building Elevations and Floorplans, prepared by Mark J. Rupsis, received 3.1.22 (illustrating Option 1 and 

Option 2 for basement size) 



2 

• Quinlan Plat of Resubdivision, received 2.18.22 
• 2019 Aerial Photograph, Village of Frankfort GIS 
• Photographs from site visit on 3.1.22 
• Variance Findings of Fact, completed by applicant 
• House plans for 117 S. Maple: A two-story house with similar gross floor area, to compare basement sizes 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the requests, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The 2 ½ existing lots which comprise the property are individually non-conforming with respect to minimum 
lot area in the R-2 District.  However, the proposed resubdivision to consolidate these lots creates a new 
lot which is 15,739 square feet. (15,000 square feet minimum required) 

• The 2 ½ existing lots which comprise the property are individually non-conforming with respect to minimum 
lot width in the R-2 District.  The individual lot widths are 50 feet.  However, the proposed resubdivision to 
consolidate these lots creates a new lot which is 125 feet wide. (100 feet minimum is required)  

• Front yard setback is 30.25 ft. (30 ft. minimum required)  
• North side yard setback is 23.36 ft., (10 ft. minimum required) 
• South side yard setback is approximately 27.56 ft. (10 ft. minimum required) 
• Total of the combined side yards is approximately 50.92 ft., (25 feet minimum total required)  
• Rear yard setback is 30.84 ft., (30 ft. minimum required)   
• Lot coverage is 22.19% based on the Main Floor Plan on Sheet A3 (25% maximum allowed).  
• Impervious coverage is 22.19% based on the Main Floor Plan on Sheet A3 and Site Plan on Sheet GP2.00. 

(40% maximum allowed)  
• The gross floor area is 3,492 sq. ft. (not including the open porch).  New home construction in the R-2 zone 

district requires a minimum of 2,400 sq. ft. for a one-story house.  
• The proposed residence meets the anti-monotony regulations as detailed in Article 7, Section A, Part 6. 
• The entire first-floor level is constructed of face-brick, complying with the first-floor masonry requirements 

listed in Article 6, Section B, Part 2, ‘g’.  
• The applicant has provided two options for the basement.  The preferred option illustrates a basement 

measuring 1,385 square feet, which is approximately 48% of the area of the ground floor of the house, not 
including the attached garage or open porch, whereas 80% is required, necessitating a variance.  The 
alternative option illustrates a basement that is 1,971 square feet, which is approximately 68.3% of the area 
of the ground floor of the house.  Both basement plan options would require a variation.  

 
Standards of Variation  

 
The applicants are requesting a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(l) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning 
Ordinance to permit the construction of a basement that is less than 80% of the ground floor of the house (not 
including the attached garage) in the R-2 Single-Family Residential District.   
 
For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request.  
 

a. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3, 
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases:  

 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;  
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  



3 

 
b. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this 

determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or particular hardships, shall also take into 
consideration the extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by 
the evidence:  

 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, 
if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification;  
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property;  
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood;  
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 
Resubdivision 

The application also includes a request for approval of the Quinlan Plat of Resubdivision, which is a consolidation 
of Lot 45, Lot 46 and half of Lot 47 in the McDonald Subdivision for the purpose of removing the existing lot lines 
which run beneath the existing home.  Staff has performed a cursory review of the Final Plat.  

Affirmative Motion    

For the Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following proposed affirmative motions.  

1. Recommend the Village Board approve a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(l) of the Village of 
Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit the construction of a basement that is less than 80% of the area of 
the ground floor of a new house in the R-2 Single-Family Residential District located at 247 Hickory Avenue 
in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

 
2. Recommend the Village Board approve the Quinlan Plat of Resubdivision, which is a consolidation of Lot 

45, Lot 46 and half of Lot 47 in the McDonald Subdivision, subject to any necessary technical revisions prior 
to recording. 

 

     



OA
K 

ST

PACIFIC ST

HI
CK

OR
Y S

T

247 Hickory ²

0 100 20050
Feet

247

233

253

255

229

131

250

240

230



Pt. -024

-023

-021

-020

-019

-018

-017

-013

-012

-0
06

-005

-010

-009

-005

-003

-002

-001

-017

-019
-018-015

-014

-011

-009

-008

-007-006-005-004

-003

-002

-001

-023

-022

-021

-019

-017

-016

-015

-014-013-012

-011

-008

-007

-006

-005-004

Pt. -003

-022

-021

-020

-019

-018

-017

-014

-013

-012

-011

-010

-009

-008

-006

-004

-003

-002

-001

-023

-022

-021

-017

-016

-015

-014

-010

-009

-008

-007

-006

-005

-004

-003

-002

-022

-020

-017

-016

-015

-014

-013

-012

-011

-010
-009

-004 -011

-009-008

-003

-010

-009

-008

-007

-006

-005

-0
04

-013

-012

-011-010

-009

-0
08

-0
07

-0
06

-0
03

-0
01

-016

-015

-014

-013

-010

-009

-008

-002

-010

-009

-006

-005

-004

-003

-002

-001

-001

-002

-007

-005 -001

-007

-014

-005

-006

-008

-007

-001

-002

-003

-004

-005

-006

-007

-001

-003

-0
14

-0
16

-0
17

-0
15

-008

-008

Pt. -024

Pt. -024

-014

-015

-006-005-003

-009-008

-006

-005

-004

-003

-002

-001

-005

-004

-003

-002

-001

-002

-001

-001

-001

-010

-017
-016

-015

-014
-036 -035-024

-1002

-1004

-1001
-1002
-1003
-1004

-1001
-1002
-1003
-1004

-1001
-1002
-1003
-1004

-1001
-1002
-1003
-1004

-041 -032 -034
-038-040

Pt. 09-28-100-003

-022

Pt. -035

Pt. -22-305-035

.30

.87

3.52

.50
.54

.50

.88.21

Pt. 1.583

Pt. 1.583

.50

1.46

.83

.21

.65

Pt. 8.10

2.36

.37

Pt. 11.56

.34

.45

.28

.25

.29

1.72

.24

.22

1.41

.35

(V
AC

)

CE
NT

ER
 R

D

SAUK TRL

AS
H 

ST
 

ELWOOD ST

OA
K 

ST

KE
AN

 A
VE

CE
NT

ER
 R

D

NEBRASKA ST

OREGON ST

PACIFIC ST

KANSAS ST

KAFFEL CT

HI
CK

OR
Y 

ST

W
AL

NU
T 

ST
 

E. J. & E. R.R.

OLD PLANK (Formerly N.Y.C. RR.)

1

10 11 12

13

13
14

15

2
3

Pt. 1

9

7

4

-006

SANGMEISTER RD

-024

-010

-009

-008

-009

5-005

-006
-007 -008 -009 -014 -012 -001 -002

-003

-002

-003

-006

-015

-012

-011

-013

-016

-017

-001

-002

-009

-004

-001

-002

-003

-004

-011

-012 -015 -016

(VAC)

Pt. -100-003
Pt. 11.561

-001
1.345

-002

-064 -065
-066

-063

-016

-017

-018

UTAH ST

S002883

S002944

S003126
S003118S003117S003119S003120

S003234

S003148

S003026

S003161

S003078

S003025 S003137
S003138

S003234

S009600

S009801

S009829

225

208

208203202

207205

212

218217

211

410

101

227

226

229

229228

500

206

221

214

220

213

219

105

305

224

100

118

100

1

2
3

2

1

2

3

4

5

6 7

8

9

10

11

12

1

2

123456789101112

13

14
15

16

7

8

9

10

11

12

1

2

3

4

5

6 7

8

9

10

11

12

7

8

9

10

11

12 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

1

2

3

4

5

1234
5

6789101112

13

14
15

16

12

3

13

14 15

16

1

2

3

4

5

6

3

1

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14 15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42 43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56 57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

123

4

5

6

4

56789

10

11

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

1

2

3

1

2

3

4

5

6

123

6

PUBLIC SQUARE

Pt
. 4

Pt
. 5

Pt. 3 Pt. 3 Pt. 3

82
84
86
88

72
74
76
78

62
64
66
68

52
54
56
58

26

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Com. Area

1
12 11 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 2 13 6 5 4 1

2

3

4

5

6 7

8

9

12

11

10

1

2

3

4

5

6

1

2

3

4

5

6

12 11 10 7 69 8 5 4

1

2

1 2 3
4

1

2

3

3

60
10

0

76.55

70
.3

6

28

60.01

505050 5030
125 100

40

280.20
695

356.75

69
.3

1

28
20

40

31.21

40

145

141.5

20

60

90

163.58

12
1.

82

12
7.

68

69.99

55
.87

47
.12

48.1112.51

47
.9

9

9095

66

33

33

60
.0

9
60

.6
3

2.65

314.21 250
1000

25
0 118

10
0

13
2.

03

60.02

13
2.

23

132

32
.0

1

134.15

13
2.

08

13
2.

35

263

214.53 246.81
418.32

47
.5

6

48
.5

3 111.17

205.87

13
2.

05

66
66

50
66

50
66

16
50

66

45

7466
16

66

16

50
66

323886

16
50

66

66

60

50

66

445816

66

12416

66

73.50

60 60

66 66 66

55691666
25

50
50

50
50

65.62

50
50

50
50

120

50
50

50
50

50

50
50

50
50

50

6262

25
50

1612416 124

50 50

50
50

25

124

38

6262

58.35

50

70

50

124

124 124

50
50

35
25

50
50

50

124 124

16

50
50

50
50

50

62 62

47
47

47
47

47
47

47
46

46
46

46
46

50
50

50
50

50

50
50

50
50

50
50

50

16124125.50

125125.5

50
30

50
50

50

30
0

50
20

264

264

30
0

16

124

50
50

50
50

50
50

124

16

50
50

50
50

50
50

124

124

50
30

50
50

50
50

50
50

50
50

50
55

61
.3

55
50

50
50

25
50

50
50

25
50

50
38

50
61

.5

50
20

12
25

25

14125 12560
125.5

61 61 60
.8

60

12514

25
50

50
50

50
50

50
25

25
50

50
55

60
.7

55
50

50
50

50
50

50
50

50
25

50
50 50

25

25

2

25
25

125 12514

60
.5

60
.5

125 14 125

50
50

50
50

50
50

50
50

50
50

50
55

60
.2

0

50
50

50
50

50
50

32
75

75
75

10
0

50

58

70194

140124

194 10
7

68

264

239.5

211.9

184.4

151.9

129.4 78.6 90 45 86.30
53.20

40 45

20
9.

9

14
1.

90

14
1.

90

68

62 134.80

227.05

180

55
.6

7
77

.7
0

50
.1

84
.81

14
1.4

22
8.8

0

19.80

4.0
8

4.6
5

64
.5

8 16
4.

155
.6

7

60
60

58
58

58
98

12
9.

68

286

11
7.

1560

203
336.33

10
5

10
0

72
.5

70
83

33
7.

8

64

8140
89.60

81.60

32

82 81.60821864

12
5

93
.4

0

16
7

9060731772.5079.17 54.50751126078.99

18
5

18
5

55
55

50
.4

5

38.95
165.5510

44
.1

0
37

11260

33
1.

66

12
5

12
5

16
0

32
5.

81
16

5.
81

10
1.

40

140

99
.1

0

15
0

28
.4

5

56.86
418.9

383.3

12
5

78.55

177

210

62
.1

8

89
.4

3

839

839.11

60

22
9.

10

59.89

150
150

150

18

12

148

11
3.

15

75

198.05

193

75
75

75

75
37

.5
0

75
75

75
75

75
90

90
90

90
93

.6
9

90
85

90

172.23
121.55

66

90.14

93.20

14
9.

82
15

0

10
0

148

90
.0

7
10

0

178

81
.7

0

75
75

75

67

162.15

40

80

193

33
40

70

70

70

5

12
0

41.95
484

12
1.

01

489

75

2222 22 22 22 22 222222

31
.4

2

22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22

80.87 129.38
86.30

5.81

4.6
9

15.25

10
.22

411.38

43
.5

2
52

.1
0

8.67

51
.8

7

35

45
.8

1

15 145.01

10

128

36
.4

1

250 342 118

10
0

2323

2727

10.
.14

11.
.86

11
.

.5
0

4.5

171.13

169.05

166.95

164.87

162.78

160.69

158.60

96
.8

4

14
2.

31

165

165

75
75

75
75

75
75

33

50 50 50 50 50 50

10
0

10
0

10
016

0

16
0

1535 2525

89
.2

4(
R

) 8
9.

22
(M

)

25

15
25

18

40

6.
60

15

15

12
5

72.50

79.17 162.50

4

4120
124

90 89.80

12
5

12
5

12
5

12
5

54.50 60
90

55

78.99

73

60

61.83

30.91

30.91 30.91

30.91 22 22 22 22 22

2222222222

16

16

6

6

22

22

22 22

22 22

22 22

2222

9

9

13

13

60

60

18

18

4

4 19 3

3

55
.5

0

9

9

22

22

22

22

22 22

22

12

2
4747

33

4848
50

2
25

25
50

505050

50
50

50
50

5050
42 42

8 8

50 50

8

16

8

8

8

8 16

5050
50

50
50 50

50
25

25

50
50

15
35

25
25

50
50

124

50
50

50
50

50
50

100

100 13

53
.4

1

12.29
31.42

8 1422222222 22 2222 14822 22

16

22 22 22 22 22 22148 22

20 60

60

11
5

11
5

484.50

80

52.94

451.50

12
1.

79
50

.0
1

160

13
0.

01

15.01

20.13 158.86
6.71

20.99

6.71

37
.5

0

110.50

19
.

.1
0

38.71

38.71

31.75

31.75

40.04

40.04

65
.5

0

9965
.5

0

65
.5

0

148(R) 148.50(M)

99

140

9090

8080

8080

140

140

55

55

S002883
Bowen's Sub of Blks. 1, 12 &
13
2-69
S003025
Original Town of Frankfort
2-45
S003026
R. W. Fredin's Sub
27-50
S003078
Holden's Addn. - Pt. Vacated -
2-88
S003126
Klepper's Sub
12-47
S003148
Lankenaus Addn.
27-54
S003161
Mc Donald's Sub
10-43
S003234
Proprietors Sub
36-6
S009829
Ash Street Sub
R2019-066753

Tax Assessment Map
Revised for the 2021 Assessment

Copyrighted 2021 by Will County GIS Division

Jennifer Bertino-Tarrant
County Executive Map PageWill County, Illinois

Subdivision List

Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data
Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic Information System has been produced and
processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made regarding accuracy, adequacy,
completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and aggregate uses of
the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, express
or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be
periodically made to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication.
If you have obtained information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that
electronic data can be altered subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended
that careful attention be paid to the contents of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with
any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any questions to Mapping & Platting at (815) 740-4664.

09-28B-E
Frankfort Township
E.1/2 N.E.1/4 Sec.28 T.35N. R.12E.

1 inch = 200 feet
Plot Date: Jul 08 2021

09-22C-W 
09

-2
8B

-W

09-27A-W

09-28D-W 09-28D-E

09-27C
-W

09-21D-E

Rhonda R. Novak
Supervisor of Assessments



cgruba
Received







cgruba
Received











cgruba
Received



cgruba
Received



cgruba
Received



cgruba
Received





OPTION 1 - 1,385 SF



OPTION 2 - 1,971 SF



cgruba
Highlight







1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                           March 24, 2022 

 
Project: Gale Residence – House Addition 
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request(s): Request for a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 1 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning 

Ordinance to permit an addition to the primary structure (house) located 14’ 3” from the 
rear property line whereas 30’ is required.  

Location: 19948 Lily Court 
Applicant:  Patrick Gale 
Prop. Owner:  Same  
Report By:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 
 

Site Details 
Lot Size: 0.38 Acres / 16,585 sq. ft.                                                                   Figure 1: Location Map    
PIN:  19-09-15-205-019-0000 
Existing Zoning:  R-2 
Prop.  Zoning: N/A   
Gross Living Area: 2,901 S.F. (not including garage) 
Building footprint: 3,633 S.F. (including garage) 
Lot Coverage: 21.9% 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Single-family Residential    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

North  Single-family Residential 
 

Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

South Single-family Residential     Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

East Single-family Residential    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

West Open Space (pond)    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Patrick Gale, is seeking to construct an addition to the rear of his house for an unenclosed, roofed 
patio area.  The proposed unenclosed roof would project 17 feet beyond the westernmost rear wall of the house, 
and would measure 17 feet wide by 25 feet deep, or 425 square feet. The house was constructed in 2014, within 
the La Porte Meadows Subdivision.  The proposed rear yard building addition would be located 14’ 3” from the 
rear property line, whereas 30’ is required in the R-2 zone district, requiring a variance.  

Attachments 

• Location map, prepared by staff (GIS) 
• Property Survey, performed by Exacta, dated 4.22.16 
• Permit drawings, materials list and pictures, submitted by applicant, March 1, 2022 
• Variance findings of fact, provided by applicant 
• HOA approval letter from La Porte Meadows Community Architectural Committee 

 



2 

Analysis 
 

In consideration of the requests, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The property complies with the required front, side and rear yard setbacks for the R-2 zone district.  
• The application for the building addition was submitted on March 3, 2022, prior to the Zoning Ordinance 

text amendment changes regarding accessory structures and impervious lot coverage and is therefore held 
to the standards of the previous code.  

• The maximum lot coverage for a one-story house in the R-2 zone district is 25%.  The existing lot coverage 
(enclosed structures) is 3,633 square feet, or 21.9%.  The open porch addition, as regulated by the former 
Zoning Ordinance regulations, does not add to the lot coverage.  Under the new Zoning Ordinance 
regulations, which this property is not bound to, the open porch addition would add 425 square feet, for a 
total lot coverage of 4,058 square feet, or 24.5%.  

• The existing impervious lot coverage, without the driveway or sidewalk (old code, applicable) is 
approximately 26.8%, whereas a maximum of 40% is permitted.  The addition would increase the 
impervious coverage to approximately 29.3%, still within the permitted amount.  

• The existing impervious lot coverage, with the driveway and sidewalk (new code, not applicable), is 
approximately 34%.  

• An arced conservation area & public utility easement exists in the rear yard of the property, adjacent to the 
existing detention pond.  No accessory structures may be constructed within this area.  The proposed 
building addition would be located just outside of this easement.  The easement boundary is in the 
approximate location as the existing rear yard, decorative, black aluminum fence.  

• The proposed addition would match the existing home in terms of materials (shingled roof) and roof pitch.  
• A detention pond exists beyond the rear yard.  The closest house to the applicant’s house, measured from 

back of house to back of house, is approximately 222’.  The proposed building addition would decrease this 
amount to approximately 205’.  

 
Standards of Variation  

 
The applicants are requesting a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 1 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance 
to permit the construction of an addition that is set back less than 30’ from the rear property line.  
 
For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request.  
 

a. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3, 
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases:  

 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;  
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  
 

b. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this 
determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or particular hardships, shall also take into 
consideration the extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by 
the evidence:  

 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, 
if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 



3 

2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 
to other property within the same zoning classification;  
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property;  
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood;  
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 
Affirmative Motion    

For the Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following proposed affirmative motions.  

1. Recommend the Village Board approve a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 1 of the Village of Frankfort 
Zoning Ordinance to permit the construction of a rear yard addition set back 14’ 3” from the rear property 
line, whereas 30’ is required in the R-2 zone district, for the property located at 19948 Lily Court in 
accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

 

     



S 8
8T

H 
AV

E

LIL
Y C

T

WI
LD

FL
OW

ER
 D

R
LIATRIS DR

19948 Lily Court

µ
0 150 30075

Feet







cgruba
Received



















 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Standards of Variation 

 
Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon the evidence provided. 
To assist the Zoning Board of Appeals in their review of the variation request(s), please provide responses 
to the following “Standards of Variation.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 

the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and  
 
 
 
 
 
3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
  
 
 
 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if 
the following seven facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence. Please 
provide responses to the following additional “Standards of Variation.”  
 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
 
 
 
 

The pond, adjacent to the rear property line, increases the upfront cost/value of the 
home, yet cannot be reasonably returned due to the extreme exposure of the sun on 
the rear side of the property (west-facing) during the summer months. The unique 
circumstances (beyond facing west), are detailed in the remaining questions below.

Given the rear property line is adjacent to a pond, there are no homes, nor trees to 
provide any shade whatsoever. Additionally, the sun's reflection off the pond, adds 
further heat/glaring rays to our property. The rear property line is 120' from the rear 
neighbor's property line, which would make the proposed structure 135' from rear 
neighbor's property line.

The variation, if granted, enables us to maintain the essential character of the locality, 
AND fully resolve the hardship. If we did NOT seek a variation, standard regulations 
would allow a 144 SF pavilion, detached 10' from the house, & closer to the property 
line; yet, only partially resolves the hardship and much less aesthetically pleasing.

As described in question #1 above and #2 below, the heat in the rear of the property 
is extreme, and distinguished from a mere inconvenience due to the physical 
surroundings (no homes, nor tall trees), shape of the property (cul-de-sac lot, which 
positions the home further back in the lot), and topographical conditions (pond 
adjacent to rear property line).



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 

interest in the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 
 
 
 
 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or  

 
 
 
 
 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

Per "Attachments A & B", the property's lot location is uniquely positioned; it is the 
first home on an "off-centered" cul-de-sac, which forced the home to be "set back" 
deep into the lot. Furthermore, the property's rear property line is 120' from the rear 
neighbor's property line due to the pond, per "Attachment C."

The purpose of the variation is based on hardship upon the owner, not money. 

The hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest in the 
property.

Per "Attachment D," the currently proposed plan (requiring this variation), has been 
approved by the La Porte Meadows Home Owners Association (HOA). The variation 
will not cause damage, harm, or any other negative impact to the public welfare and 
neighborhood.

As referenced in "Attachment E" & Question #3 on pg 1 above, the proposed plan (i.e. 
same 8/12 hip roof pitch & design) was developed to ensure that there is no variance 
whatsoever, with the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the current 
structure (home), immediate neighborhood, and character of the applicable district.  

As referenced in both question #2s above, the property's rear property line is 120' 
from the rear neighbor's property line. Furthermore, if granted the variation, the 
extended roof will not be visible from the current, adjacent side properties' structures 
(homes). The proposed variation will not impair adequate supply of air to adjacent 
properties, substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public 
safety nor substantially diminish nor impair property values within the neighborhood.







1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                           March 24, 2022 

 
Project: Religious Retreat Center for Gracepoint Ministries 
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing  
Requests: Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning from AG and R-2 to R-2); Special Use Permit for a 

Planned Unit Development    
Location: 22660 S. Harlem Avenue 
Applicant:  Gracepoint Ministries 
Prop. Owner:  Same  
Consultants:  Gabe Garcia, Ideal Designs; Brian Hertz, MG2A  
Representative: Richard J. Kavanaugh, Attorney  
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: ±22.66 Acres                                                              Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): 19-09-36-204-042-0000 
Existing Zoning:  AG & R-2 
Prop.  Zoning: R-2   
Building(s) / Lot(s): 5 buildings / 1 lot 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Single-Family Residential    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

AG/R-2 

North  Forest Preserve 
 

Environmental 
Conservation 

FP 

South Single-Family Residential     Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

East Forest Preserve   Environmental 
Conservation 

FP 

West Single-Family Residential    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

 
 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Gracepoint Ministries, is a California religious 501(c)3 nonprofit corporation, which is an 
association of Gracepoint churches scattered throughout the United States.  Gracepoint is the owner of 
the 22.66-acre property located at 22660 Harlem Avenue which includes an 8,704 square-foot, 2 and ½ -
story, single-family home, a 10,189.76 square-foot private gymnasium building, a 2-story guest house, and 
two smaller accessory buildings all situated adjacent to an approximately 3-acre private lake in a 
secluded, wooded setting.  Gracepoint is seeking to establish a religious retreat center on the property for 
the benefit if its members.  The proposed religious retreat center would not be open to the public for 
commercial use or rental.  The Table of Permitted and Special Uses in the Village’s Zoning Ordinance does 
not include a land use classification for a religious retreat center.  However, there is past precedent to 
allow such land uses via a Planned Unit Development, which is a special use in all zoning districts in the 
Village except the Agricultural District. Ordinance No. 2314, An ordinance Granting a Special Use Permit 
for a Planned Unit Development to Manitoqua Ministries, for the Camp Manitoqua property located at 
8122 Sauk Trail was approved on August 21, 2006.  In conjunction with the request for a Special Use 
Permit for a Planned Unit Development, the applicant seeks approval of an exception from the Zoning 
Ordinance to allow continuation of a lot which has zero street frontage.  To accommodate the request for 
a Special Use Permit for a Planned Unit Development, the applicant is requesting approval of a Zoning 



2 

Map Amendment (rezoning) from the Agricultural (AG) District to the R-2 Single-Family Residential District 
for the northern portion of the property. The request to rezone the AG zoned portion of the property to 
R-2 Single-Family Residential District would be consistent with the neighboring properties to the south 
and west and would be consistent with the Future Land Use Map in the Comprehensive Plan which 
designates the property as “Single-Family Detached Residential”.  This also corrects the current split 
zoning. 
 

Attachments 
• Applicant’s Narrative Description of Use dated 2.15.22 
• Letter from Attorney dated 1.28.22 regarding easement of ingress and egress 
• 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
• Photographs provided by applicant 3.3.22 
• Plat of Survey prepared by MG2A Civil Engineering and Surveying dated 2.14.22 
• Floor Plans/Life Safety Plans of existing private gymnasium prepared by Ideal Designs dated 1.25.22 
• Site Sketch Plan prepared by MG2A Civil Engineering and Surveying dated 3.10.22 
• Article 3, Section F of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance (Planned Unit Developments) 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the requests, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The subject lot is non-conforming with respect to the required minimum frontage/lot width in the proposed 
R-2 District.  The lot has zero street frontage. (100 feet minimum required) 

• The subject lot is conforming with respect to the required minimum lot area in the proposed R-2 District.  
The lot area is approximately 22.66 acres. (15,000 square feet minimum required) 

• The existing buildings comply with all R-2 District setback requirements. 
• The existing buildings comply with the R-2 District maximum 20% lot coverage requirement. 
• The existing buildings comply with the R-2 District maximum 50% impervious coverage requirement (for 

the proposed non-single-family residential use). 
• The existing home has a gross floor area of 10,189.76 square feet (minimum 2,600 square feet for a two-

story and minimum 2,400 sq. ft. for a one-story required).  
• The existing buildings, which predominantly have wood-siding, are considered legal-nonconforming with 

respect to the Village’s masonry materials exterior requirements outlined in Article 6, Section B, Part 2, ‘g’ 
and Article 6, Section B, Part 4, ‘d’ of the Zoning Ordinance.           

• The height of the existing residence is not known at this time. (35 ft. maximum is allowed). 
• The Zoning Ordinance specifies parking for Religious Institutions as follows: One (1) space per four (4) seats 

based upon maximum capacity of the facility, plus adequate space for all vehicles associated with the 
institution.  The applicant’s narrative (attached) states that there will be 20-40 people on the property once 
per month (requiring an estimated minimum of 10 parking spaces) and 100-150 people on the property 3-
4 times per year (requiring an estimated minimum of 38 parking spaces).  The applicant has submitted a 
Site Sketch Plan which illustrates a proposed new parking lot consisting of 45 paved parking spaces (43 
standard spaces and 2 handicap accessible spaces) located parallel to the existing long driveway.  The 
proposed new parking lot would satisfy the Zoning Ordinance parking requirement and should also satisfy 
the actual parking demand during gatherings on the property.  If the actual parking demand ever exceeds 
the capacity of the parking lot, there are additional parking spaces in the driveway located between the 
main house and the guest house, as well as additional parking spaces located in the driveway immediately 
east of the gymnasium building, and if ever needed, along the long driveway.   

• The property is heavily buffered with Forest Preserve property abutting the north and east property line 
and heavily wooded areas along the south and west property lines. 

• It should be noted that since this property is already developed and only the proposed use would be 
changing, not all aspects of the Village’s Planned Unit Development regulations would apply as would be 
the case for a new development.  The proposed Planned Unit Development would allow for the change in 
use from the existing single-family use to a religious retreat center use, while providing governing 
documents with respect to the form and function of the proposed operation.  



3 

Workshop Discussion  
 
The Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals held a workshop on this application on March 24, 2022.  Questions 
from the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals included the following topics: 
 

• Specific uses of the property 
• Expected number of visitors to the property 
• Tax-exempt status of the property 
• Daily oversight and caretaking of the property 
• Expected parking demand for occasional larger gatherings during the year 
• The proposed zoning classification of the property 
• Drainage needs for the proposed new parking lot 
• The previous use of the accessory building located north of the main house 

 
Village staff reached out to the Cook County Department of Transportation and Highways and has confirmed that 
the applicant likely will need to apply for a permit for the driveway entrance on Harlem Avenue due to the proposed 
conversion of the use of the property from a single-family residential use to religious institutional use.  The applicant 
has been made aware of the need to contact the agency for more information.  
 

Standards for Zoning Map Amendments (Rezoning)   
 
For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section D, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate a Zoning Map Amendment 
(rezoning) request. 
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall submit same, together with its recommendations 
to the Village Board, for action. Where the purpose and effect of the proposed amendment is to change the zoning 
classification of particular property, the Plan Commission shall make findings based upon all the evidence presented 
to it and shall consider among other pertinent matters, the following:  
 

a. Existing uses of property within the general area of the property in question; Village of Frankfort Article 3:  
 

b. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question;  
 

c. The suitability of the property in question to the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification;  
 

d. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including changes, if 
any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification; and  
 

e. The change in zoning is in conformance with the comprehensive plan of the Village and its official map.  
 

f. After consideration of the above matters, the Plan Commission may recommend the adoption of a 
proposed amendment, a denial of a proposed amendment or a modification to such proposed 
amendment. The Plan Commission may include with its recommendation certain conditions or 
modifications to a proposed amendment for consideration by the Board of Trustees.  
 

Standards for Special Uses  
 

For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every special use request.  
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall refer to any exhibits containing plans and 
specifications for the proposed special use, which shall remain a part of the permanent record of the Plan 



4 

Commission. The Plan Commission shall submit same, together with its recommendation to the Village Board for 
final action. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find:  
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, 
the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 

e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which 
it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant 
to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.  
 

Standards for Planned Unit Developments  
 
For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section F of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance refers to Planned 
Unit Developments (refer to complete Article 3 attached).  Part 4 of said Section F refers to the review standards the 
must be considered. 
 
In granting or withholding approval of Preliminary Plans and Final Plans, the Plan Commission and the Village Board 
shall consider the extent to which the application fulfills the requirements of this Ordinance and the following 
standards:  
 

a. The plan is designed to protect the public health, welfare and safety.  
 

b. The proposed development does not cause substantial injury to the value of other property in the 
immediate area.  
 

c. The plan provides for protection of the aesthetic and function of the natural environment, which shall 
include, but not be limited to, flood plains, streams, creeks, lakes, ponds, wetlands, soil and geologic 
characteristics, air quality, vegetation, woodlands, and steep slopes.  
 

d. The plan provides for and ensures the preservation of adequate recreational amenities and common open 
spaces.  
 

e. Residential use areas may provide a variety of housing types to achieve a balanced neighborhood.  
 

f. The planned unit development provides land area to accommodate cultural, educational, recreational and 
other public and quasi-public activities to serve the needs of the residents thereof.  
 



5 

g. The proposed development provide for the orderly and creative arrangement of all land uses with respect 
to each other and to the entire Village.  

 
Affirmative Motions    

For the Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following affirmative motions.  

1. Recommend that the Village Board approve a Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) from AG and R-2 to R-2 
for the property located at 22660 S. Harlem Avenue, in accordance with the public testimony and Findings 
of Fact; and 
 

2. Recommend that the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for a Planned Unit Development (PUD), 
including an exception from Article 6, Section B, Part 1 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance which 
requires a minimum 100-foot lot width standard, and from Article IX, Section 9.5 of the Village of 
Frankfort Land Subdivision Regulations, which requires lot dimensions to conform to the requirements of 
the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance, to allow continuation of a lot which has zero street frontage, as 
well as any other exceptions as may be necessary, to accommodate a proposed religious retreat center, 
for the property located at 22660 S. Harlem Avenue, in accordance with the submitted plans, public 
testimony, and Findings of Fact, subject to the following conditions: 
  

a. Subject to Village approval of the required final engineering plans for the proposed parking area;  
b. Subject to Village approval of the required landscape plan; 
c. Subject to retention of the existing trees and vegetation around the perimeter of the property, to 

serve as screening from adjacent properties; 
d. Subject to Village approval of the required site lighting photometric plans for any proposed 

exterior lighting; 
e. Subject to Cook County Department of Transportation and Highways approval of any necessary 

permits related to the driveway entrance on Harlem Avenue 
f. The submitted Plat of Survey and Site Sketch Plan shall be the approved site plan for the Planned 

Unit Development. 
 
 



 1 

Gracepoint Ministries’ Proposed Use of 22660 S Harlem Ave, Frankfort, IL 60423  (2/15/22) 
 
 
Introduction: 
 
Gracepoint Ministries, a California religious 501(c)3 nonprofit corporation, is an association of 
Gracepoint churches scattered throughout the United States (www.gracepointonline.org).  As 
Christians, we strive to live a life of love in the footsteps of Jesus Christ, obeying the great 
commandments to love God and love your neighbor as yourself.  We have affiliation with the 
Southern Baptist denomination, the largest Protestant denomination in the United States. 
 
More than 30 years ago, we started as a collegiate ministry to minister to undergraduate and 
graduate students.  As our churches matured, we’ve expanded to bless the local communities 
through ministries like elderly care ministry (nursing home visits), children programs, and youth 
mentoring, to name a few.  We are currently serving close to 70 campuses in 30 cities.   
 
We’re increasingly multiethnic and relatively young working adult 20- to 40-somethings who 
are eager to make a positive impact in society today, where there’s much need for 
spiritual/emotional/mental health and thriving all around.     
 
Several years ago, we expanded into the Chicagoland area with locations at Hyde Park 
(University of Chicago) and Evanston (Northwestern University).  Recently, we started 
additional locations in the Greater Midwest with churches for Purdue University, University of 
Illinois—Urbana Champaign, University of Wisconsin—Madison, University of Michigan—Ann 
Arbor, and the Ohio State University.   
 
Over time, Gracepoint Ministries has purchased properties near clusters of our existing 
ministries for use by our members.   
 
22660 S Harlem Ave Property: 
 
Gracepoint Ministries recently purchased the property on 22660 S Harlem Ave, comprising of 
three existing structures:   

• Main house (9-bedrooms, built 1992), 
• Guest house (built 1997), and  
• Gym (built 2012).   

 
The bulk of the property is zoned AG (Agricultural District), with a portion zoned as R2 (Single 
Family Residential District); this 22 acre parcel includes both AG and R2 zones.  (see illustrative 
mock-up below) 
 

https://www.gracepointonline.org/
https://www.gracepointonline.org/
https://www.sbc.net/
https://www.gracepointonline.org/churches-browse
https://www.gracepointonline.org/churches


 2 

 
 
This property is well-buffered and sheltered from the surrounding land with layers of mature 
trees all around the perimeter to provide a very tranquil feel/experience.  Forest Preserve land 
is to the north, along with a strip between our parcel and Harlem Avenue.  The west and south 
edges of this parcel face R2 zones.  There is a 3 acre private pond on the parcel and the distance 
from the buildings to the nearest residential neighbor is more than 600 ft, so it maintains 
privacy fairly well. 
 
Gracepoint Ministries purchased the property for exclusive use by our official ministry team 
members as a “getaway” primarily for rest and restoration away from the busy city life and 
the volunteer service they are engaged in our Ministries, as many of our members volunteer in 
different capacities at their respective local churches.   
 
As such, this property will not be “open to the public,” but rather, it will be for private use by 
official members of Gracepoint Ministries.  Immediate use is for members to enjoy outdoor 
recreational activities (e.g., fishing and kayaking in the pond, gardening, cornhole games, etc.) 
as “Outdoor Recreational & Entertainment” is one of the permitted uses for the AG zone.  The 
existing large gym with basketball/volleyball also helps to meet such purposes.  Under Use 
Group A-3, the allowable Occupant Load (Table 1004.1.2) is 172 occupants for the gym.  Our 
typical use will be far less than that (20-40 people per typical weekly usage outlined below).   
 
It is important to note that there will be no revenue generated from our members’ use of the 
property.  The main house is also used as a parsonage for the official clergy of our ministries 
while they serve as caretakers of the property; currently, there are two caretaker couples who 
share this responsibility a few days each for each week.   
 



 3 

Rezone & Special Use for Planned Unit Development: 
 
Upon discussion with Michael Schwarz, we are applying to rezone the AG portion of the 
property to be R-2 which would be consistent with neighboring properties and also consistent 
with the Future Land Use Map in the Comprehensive Plan.  In addition, we would like to apply 
for a Special Use for a Planned Unit Development (consistent with the manner in which Camp 
Manitoqua was approved in 2006 under Ordinance No. 2314).  This would enable our members 
to, in addition to the existing use as a gym for recreational activities, hold religious meetings in 
the large gym; this again will be for our ministry team members only, primarily for times of 
prayer, reflection, and study of the Bible.  This is not a Sunday church worship service, as those 
are taking place at their respective local church locations (at Evanston, Hyde Park, etc.).   
 
We envision a typical WEEKLY usage as follows:   

• 2-3 days out of the week, living quarters for primary caretaker couple.   
• 2-3 days out of the week, living quarters for secondary caretaker couple.   
• 1-6 hours of Saturday day use for a small group of 10-20 people, primarily recreational. 
• 2-3 hours of Sunday evening use for 20-40 people, for any combination of recreation, 

prayer, reflection, and study of the Bible.   
 
In addition, less frequent OCCASIONAL use will be as follows:   

• Once a month, a group may use the facilities for a weekend where that group size might 
be 20-40 people.  

• Once a quarter (3 or 4 times a year), a larger gathering may use the gym for 1-2 days; 
this may be 100-150 people.  (The former owner, Robert Watson, held parties and 
events of such sizes in the gym when he owned it.)  We are working with a local 
architectural firm, Ideal Designs (principal architect Gabe Garcia) to upgrade the 
existing gym for A-3 Assembly use to properly accommodate such groups.  A small 
subset of the folks will lodge at the gym (20-50 people) and others may utilize the local 
hotels/motels in Frankfort.   

 
Among other modifications, we will meet life safety plans, parking capacity (per ADA 
requirements), and satisfy the Fire Marshal’s requirements for a fire sprinkler system.  We are 
working with Brian Hertz of MG2A engineering firm to tap into the water main that currently 
runs along Harlem Avenue since our water well system would not suffice for a sprinkler system. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to reach out to me at Jonathan.Lee@gpmail.org or 
530-902-4441.  We look forward to working with the folks at the Village of Frankfort and thank 
you in advance for all of your service.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
Jonathan Lee 
Midwest Regional Director, Gracepoint Ministries 

mailto:Jonathan.Lee@gpmail.org








Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.14

1: 4,514

0 Miles

22660 Harlem Avenue

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

3/4/2022 Date:

0.07

Address Points

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels LY

Townships











G
ym



M
ai

n 
H

ou
se



G
ue

st
H

ou
se



L
O

T
  
1

H A R L E M     A V E N U E

TIMBERS EDGE PHASE 2 PER DOC. R2004094938

LO
T  

11
5

LOT  116LOT  117LOT  118

CR
YS

TA
L 

BR
OO

K 
OF

 F
RA

NK
FO

RT
 P

HA
SE

 1
 P

ER
 D

OC
. R

20
10

03
38

10

G
R

AC
EP

O
IN

T 
M

IN
IS

TR
IE

S
N

IB
R

FS
02

-1
4-

20
22

S
C

A
LE

:  
1"

 =
 1

00
'

-
-

22
-1

17

P
L

A
T

 O
F

 S
U

R
V

E
Y

LE
G

AL
 D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N
LO

T 
1 

IN
 W

AT
SO

N
'S

 S
U

BD
IV

IS
IO

N
, B

EI
N

G
 A

 S
U

BD
IV

IS
IO

N
 O

F
PA

R
T 

O
F 

TH
E 

N
O

R
TH

EA
ST

 Q
U

AR
TE

R
 A

N
D

 P
AR

T 
O

F 
TH

E
SO

U
TH

EA
ST

 Q
U

AR
TE

R
 O

F 
SE

C
TI

O
N

 3
6,

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

 3
5

N
O

R
TH

, R
AN

G
E 

12
 E

AS
T 

O
F 

TH
E 

TH
IR

D
 P

R
IN

C
IP

AL
M

ER
ID

IA
N

, A
C

C
O

R
D

IN
G

 T
O

 T
H

E 
PL

AT
 T

H
ER

EO
F 

R
EC

O
R

D
ED

SE
PT

EM
BE

R
 1

9,
 2

01
4 

AS
 D

O
C

U
M

EN
T 

R
20

14
08

17
08

, I
N

FR
AN

KF
O

R
T 

TO
W

N
SH

IP
, W

IL
L 

C
O

U
N

TY
, I

LL
IN

O
IS

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

Pr
of

es
si

on
al

 D
es

ig
n 

Fi
rm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
P.

 8
15

-4
78

-9
68

0 
  ww

w
.m

g2
a.

co
m

   
F.

 8
15

-4
78

-9
68

5
25

62
0 

S.
 G

O
UG

AR
 R

D 
   

|  
  M

AN
HA

TT
AN

, I
L.

 6
04

42

M
G

A2

35
-3

55
8

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L
L

A
N

D
S

U
R

V
E

Y
O

R
S

T
A

T
E

 O
F

IL
L

IN
O

IS

  RO
BE

RT
 F

.  
S L

U I S
  

  MAN
HA

TT
AN

, 
IL
LI

NOI
S  

IL
LI

N
O

IS
 P

R
O

FE
SS

IO
N

AL
 L

AN
D

 S
U

R
VE

YO
R

 N
O

. 3
55

8
LI

C
EN

SE
 E

XP
IR

ES
 N

O
VE

M
BE

R
 3

0,
 2

02
2

I, 
R

O
BE

R
T 

F.
 S

LU
IS

, A
N

 IL
LI

N
O

IS
 P

R
O

FE
SS

IO
N

AL
 L

AN
D

 S
U

R
VE

YO
R

, D
O

H
ER

EB
Y 

C
ER

TI
FY

 T
H

AT
 I 

H
AV

E 
SU

R
VE

YE
D

 A
N

D
 L

O
C

AT
ED

 T
H

E 
BU

IL
D

IN
G

S
O

N
 T

H
E 

AB
O

VE
 D

ES
C

R
IB

ED
 P

R
O

PE
R

TY
 A

N
D

 T
H

AT
 T

H
E 

PL
AT

 H
ER

EO
N

D
R

AW
N

 IS
 A

 T
R

U
E 

AN
D

 C
O

R
R

EC
T 

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
O

N
 O

F 
SA

ID
 S

U
R

VE
Y.

 A
LL

D
IS

TA
N

C
ES

 A
R

E 
IN

 F
EE

T 
AN

D
 D

EC
IM

AL
 P

AR
TS

 T
H

ER
EO

F.
 T

H
IS

PR
O

FE
SS

IO
N

AL
 S

ER
VI

C
E 

C
O

N
FO

R
M

S 
TO

 T
H

E 
C

U
R

R
EN

T 
IL

LI
N

O
IS

 M
IN

IM
U

M
ST

AN
D

AR
D

S 
FO

R
 A

 B
O

U
N

D
AR

Y 
SU

R
VE

Y.

G
IV

EN
 U

N
D

ER
 M

Y 
H

AN
D

 A
N

D
 S

EA
L 

TH
IS

 1
4t

h 
D

AY
 O

F 
FE

BR
U

AR
Y,

 A
.D

. 2
02

2.

N
O

TE
: S

O
M

E 
IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

 N
O

T 
SH

O
W

N
D

U
E 

TO
 S

N
O

W
 C

O
VE

R
A

G
E 

A
T 

TH
E

TI
M

E 
O

F 
TH

E 
FI

EL
D

 W
O

R
K

X:\Projects\2022\22-117 - 22660 S Harlem Ave Frankfort - Gracepoint Ministries\DWG\0-Survey\22-117 0Base.dwg, POBS, 2/15/2022 10:10:03 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOTUHEAST 1/4 OF SEC. 36-35-12E

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SEC. 36-35-12E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SEC. 36-35-12E

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 STORY FRAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 STORY FRAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 STORY STEEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST LINE OF THE EAST 1/2 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SEC. 36-35-12E

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 674.99' OF THE EAST 1/2 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SEC. 36-35-12E

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST LINE OF THE WEST 1024.34' OF THE EAST 1/2 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SEC. 36-35-12E

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST LINE OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SEC. 36-35-12E

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD 0.95'S 0.15'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%u  LEGEND  

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEASURED DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
(7.77')

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECORDED DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.77'

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.U.E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
D.E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING SETBACK LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK PAVERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CK. BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR. BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELDWORK COMPLETED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB:    PG:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORDERED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAME SHED

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAME BUILDING





mschwarz
Received



















































 1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA    March 24, 2021 

 
 
Project: Olde Stone Village Subdivision – 1st Addition    
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing  
Request: Rezoning (upon annexation), Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision, Plat of Dedication 
Location:   Vienna Way 
Subdivision:  Olde Stone Village 
Applicant:  Olde Stone Development, LLC 
Prop. Owner:  Juan Garcia 
Representative: Mark Berardelli 
 

Site Details 
 

Project Size: 13.66 acres (6.93 + 4.53 + 2.2)                          Figure 1. Location Map 
PIN(s): 19-09-31-400-016-0020 
 19-09-31-400-016-0010 
 19-09-31-400-013-0000 
Existing Zoning:  E-R, A-1 (County), E-1 (County) 
Prop.  Zoning: R-2 
Buildings / Lots: 15-16 add’l proposed, 104 existing  
Total Sq. Ft.: N/A 

Average Lot Size: 19,476 (within the 1st Addition) 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Undeveloped Single Family/Envr. 
Conservation 

E-R, A-1 (Cnty.)  
E-1 (Cnty.) 

North Undeveloped, 
Single Family 

Single Family/Envr. 
Conservation 

E-R 

South  Single Family Single Family/Envr. 
Conservation 

R-2 

East Single Family Single Family/Envr. 
Conservation/Parks 

A-1 (Cnty.) E-1 
(Cnty.) 

West Single Family, 
Public Utility 

Single Family/Public 
Institutional 

R-2, A-1 (Cnty.) 

 
Project Summary  
 

Olde Stone Village was originally platted in 2005 and consists of a west portion and east portion, separated by a 
floodplain for Jackson Creek.  The west portion was originally platted for 67 lots, although after two lot 
consolidations, there are currently 65 lots.  The east portion was originally platted for 41 lots, with 39 lots existing 
today after lot consolidations.  The entirety of Olde Stone Village now consists of 104 buildable lots.  The applicant 
is proposing the first addition to the west portion of Olde Stone Village, by extending Vienna Way to serve an 
additional 15 lots, for a total of 81 lots on the west portion.  Vienna way currently terminates as a stub street, but 
is proposed to terminate as a cul-de-sac, similar to all other dead-end streets within Olde Stone Village.  The plans 
have been reviewed by the Village’s Engineering consultant and there has been a substantial completion of 
preliminary engineering.  The project requires annexing the southern two parcels and rezoning them along with 
the northern parcel, to R-2, Single-Family Residential, matching the existing zoning for Olde Stone Village.  
  
 
 



 2 

Attachments 
1. 2019 aerial photograph, Village of Frankfort GIS 
2. Will County zoning map, illustrating the zoning for the two southern unincorporated parcels.  
3. FEMA Flood Hazard Area map 
4. National Wetlands Inventory Map the subject area and environs.  
5. Lot Size Analysis of existing and proposed lots, prepared by staff 
6. Plan Commission minutes from May 13, 2021  
7. Amendment (Rezoning) findings of fact, prepared by applicant 
8. Email correspondence 5.21.21 regarding the use of the County FAA Radio Tower 
9. Original Plat of Olde Stone Village (2005) 
10. Title Survey, received by staff 11.9.21 
11. Plat of Annexation, received by staff 2.2.22 
12. Final Plat of Olde Stone 1st Addition, received by staff 3.4.22 
13. Preliminary Plat of Olde Stone Village 1st Addition (site plan), prepared by MG2A, received by staff 3.17.22  
14. Landscape Plan, received by staff 2.14.22 
15. Tree Survey, received by staff 11.9.21 

 

Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

1. The Plan Commission reviewed this project as a workshop on May 13, 2021.  Comments were provided to 
the applicant and the applicant also began substantial engineering work with Robinson Engineering.   

2. Olde Stone Village subdivision was approved in 2005, containing a west and east portion with a total of 
108 lots.  After subsequent lot consolidations and excluding non-buildable lots for public utility 
easements, there are now a total of 104 lots.  Currently, the subdivision is nearing completion, and the 
Building Department estimates there are approximately 20 undeveloped lots.  

3. The proposed 1st Addition would add 15 lots to the stubbed end of Vienna Way, terminating in a cul-de-
sac.  The total number of lots would increase from 104 to 119 within the subdivision.  Under the terms of 
the pending draft annexation agreement for Olde Stone Village 1st Addition, Outlot C could become a 
buildable lot (the 16th lot) if at any time in the future Vienna Way is extended north to the parcel that is 
currently owned by the Church of Latter Day Saints.  The cul-de-sac with a landscape island would be 
removed, and the curb, gutter, sidewalk and parkway would be removed and shifted/reconstructed to 
accommodate the 16th lot.   

4. The 1st Addition area currently consists of 3 parcels under the same ownership.  The two southern parcels 
are located in unincorporated Will County, while the northern parcel is within Village limits and is zoned 
E-R, Estate Residential.  The two southern parcels would need to be annexed into the Village.  Annexed 
parcels are automatically assigned a zone designation of E-R.  The applicant has submitted a plat of 
annexation, which has been included with this staff report, although it is the Village Board and not the 
Plan Commission that has authority to act on annexations.  The Plan Commission, however, would 
forward a recommendation to the Village Board regarding the proposed rezoning from the default zoning 
of E-R (Estate Residential) to R-2 (Single-Family Residential).  

5. This project would require that all 3 parcels be rezoned to R-2, Single Family Residential, which would 
match the existing zoning for Olde Stone Village.  The R-2 zone district would permit the creation of lots at 
least 15,000 square feet in area.  The average lot size for the proposed 15 lots is 19,476 square feet, with 
16,174 being the smallest lot, complying with this requirement.   

6. Staff has provided an analysis of the existing lot sizes in Olde Stone Village and the proposed lot sizes for 
the 1st Addition.  The average lot size within the proposed 1st addition is 19,476 square feet.  The average 



 3 

lot size for the entirety of the existing Olde Stone Village is 20,988 square feet.  The average lot size for 
the existing western portion of Olde Stone Village is 20,847 square feet.   

7. All proposed lots meet the required minimum lot width (100’) and depth (150’).  Lot width is measured at 
the front building line, not the front property line.   

8. The R-2 Single-Family District allows a maximum net density of 2.25 units per net buildable acre.  With 15 
lots, the net density is 2.23 units per acre.  In the future, if Outlot C is converted to a buildable lot, the net 
density would be slightly higher, but then some of the area of the right-of-way would then count toward 
the net buildable area.  The net density is determined by taking the overall area of 13.66 acres (post right-
of-way dedication), deducting the area of the four outlots, and dividing by the number of buildable lots.  
The total area of proposed right-of-way is 1.41 acres and the total area of the proposed outlots is 5.51 
acres, for a total of 6.92 acres.  The total projeect acreage of 13.66 acres, minus the right-of-way and 
outlot area of 6.92 acres equals the net buildable area of 6.74 acres.  
 

9. The preliminary plat (site plan) illustrates three (3) proposed streetlights along the Vienna Way extension.  
No details have been provided for the streetlights, although they should match the existing street lights 
within the original Olde Stone Village subdivision.  

10. The Frankfort Fire District requires that dead-end roads over 150’ in length provide a cul-de-sac with a 
minimum diameter of at least 90’.  The Zoning Ordinance requires that cul-de-sacs contain a landscaped 
island.  Olde Stone Village currently has several dead-end streets that terminate with landscaped cul-de-
sacs.  The proposed cul-de-sac has been reviewed by the Frankfort Fire District and complies with the fire 
truck turning radii requirements.  The landscaped island size complies with the Zoning Ordinance 
requirements.   

11. The 1st Addition abuts undeveloped land owned by the Church of Latter Day Saints to the north.  The 
actual church building occupies a separate parcel to the east, which has access to Wolf Road.  Per the 
annexation agreement for the church property (Ord-1952), should the undeveloped church parcel be 
subdivided (as would be the case for single family homes), that Vienna Way must then connect to Wolf 
Road.  The applicant has been in discussions with the church to acquire this land, knowing that Vienna 
Way must then connect to Wolf Road.  From a traffic circulation perspective, having two access points to 
the west portion of Olde Stone Village would be preferable.  Currently, the west portion of Olde Stone 
Village has only one access point (to 116th Avenue).   

12. Part of the subject property must be dedicated for Wolf Road right-of-way.  The area of dedication 
measures 97.18’ wide along the road and exactly 40’ deep.  The right-of-way dedication can be approved 
as part of the Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision approval.  

13. The Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision illustrates proposed easements for water, sanitary and storm 
lines, as well as for public utility and drainage easements. There is also an existing 10’ wide easement that 
runs through lots 2 and 15 that will be abrogated (vacated).   

14. The maintenance of the detention pond on Outlot A will be maintained by the Olde Stone Village HOA and 
not the Village of Frankfort.  Specifically, the HOA will maintain the shoreline plantings (traditional lawn 
grass or prairie grass) and possible algae maintenance.  This will be noted within the Covenants and 
Restrictions and/or within the Annexation Agreement.  The Village Department of Public Works would still 
be responsible for maintaining the inlet and outlet structures of the detention pond.  

15. There is an unincorporated 4.3-acre parcel to the west of the proposed development, owned and 
maintained by Will County, for use as an FAA radio tower.  In discussions between staff and the County, 
this tower serves the Will County Sheriff, Frankfort Police Department, Fire Protection District and “a 
number of other public safety agencies”.  



 4 

16. A 10’ wide “Outlot D” is proposed between lots 13 & 14.  This outlot could serve as a future pedestrian 
path for residents to travel through the existing FAA radio tower parcel, connecting to the existing 10’ 
wide pedestrian path along the east side of 116th Ave., to Roy and Dorothy Janssen Park.  However, in an 
email from the County to Village staff on May 21, 2021 (attached), the County objects to the use of the 
radio tower property for “recreational” purposes.  However, Outlot D could remain in place if the 
County’s position changes in the future.  

17. It is assumed that the additional 15 lots would be incorporated into the existing HOA for Olde Stone 
Village. However, if the lots are not incorporated into the existing HOA, a separate HOA will be required 
only for the 15 lots.  

18. The proposed landscape plan complies with the requirements of the Village’s Landscape Ordinance, 
regarding parkway trees, detention pond landscaping and preservation tree mitigation.  The three existing 
parcels for the 1st Addition do not contain many trees.  Of those trees, most of them are not designated 
“preservation trees”.   The proposed parkway trees would be located on top of proposed water and storm 
utility lines.  It would be preferable to relocate these utility lines beneath the actual road pavement 
instead of beneath the parkway trees, although the Village has approved of this method in the past.   

19. Building elevations for the proposed homes have not been provided at this time.  The developer intends 
to construct homes that are architecturally consistent with the variety of homes in the original Olde Stone 
Village Subdivision. 

Amendments (Rezonings)- Findings of Fact 
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall submit same, together with its 
recommendations to the Village Board, for action.  Where the purpose and effect of the proposed amendment is 
to change the zoning classification of particular property, the Plan Commission shall make findings based upon all 
the evidence presented to it and shall consider among other pertinent matters, the following: 
 

1. Existing uses of property within the general area of the property in question; 
 

2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question; 
 

3. The suitability of the property in question to the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification; 
 

4. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including changes, if 
any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification; and 
 

5. The change in zoning is in conformance with the comprehensive plan of the Village and its official map. 
 
Affirmative Motions 
 

1. Recommend the Village Board rezone the property from E-R to R-2 upon annexation. 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve the Final Plat of Subdivision for Olde Stone Village 1st Addition, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans and conditioned upon final engineering approval, dedication of right-
of-way for Wolf Road and legal documentation that the detention pond will be maintained by the HOA.  

  
 



S W
OL

F R
D

S 116TH AVE

W STEGER RD

STOLL RD

AS
TE

R 
DR

ME
RR

ITT
ON

 R
D

SU N RIV ER DR

MISTY FAL LS LN

FIR
EN

ZE
 D

R

SIENA DR

CRIMSON LN

COBBLESTONE
TRL

HINSPETER DR

MCKENNA DR

SUNBURST PT

HUGHESST

LAURA LN

F ALLS VIEW WAY

W ZERMATT DR

COQUILLE DR

AZURE DR

S
DU

BL
IN

CT

JE
AN

ET
TE

 C
T

AU
TU

MN D
R

S
DUBLIN WAY

VENEZIA DR
W YORK DR

FIVE O
AKS DR

W
TO

RIN O WAY

AMHEARST CT
S JACKSON

BR

W VIENN A WAY

S APPHIRE CT

PORT WELLER
C T

S M
UN

IC
H 

CT

MERRITTON CT

SUN RIVER PT

HARVEST DR

RUBY CT

DIAMOND CT

ASTER CT

COQUILLE DR

FLAGSTONE TURN

PATRICK CT

W YORK CT

HOME CT

RIVERSIDE DR

WELLAND CT

NETHERBY WAY

MI
ST

Y F
AL

LS
 CI

R

SWANSTONE CT

QUARTZ CT

S PERTH CT

W CHIMAY CT

TOPANGA CYN

JA
CK

SO
N 

BR
AN

CH
 C

T

AMBER CT

AZURE CIR
S DUBLIN CIR

AUTUMN DR

Olde Stone 1st Addition

µ
0 500 1,000250

Feet



S W
OL

F R
D

S 116TH AVE

W STEGER RD

AS
TE

R 
DR

ME
RR

ITT
ON

 R
D

MISTY FALLS LN
HINSPETER DR

STOLL RD

LAURA LN

W ZERMATT DR

FIRENZE DR

S D
UB

LIN
CT SIENA DR

HUGHES ST

SDUBLIN WAY

W YORK DR

W
TO

RINO WAY

AMHEARST CT

SUNBURST PT
MCKENNA DR

PATRICK CT

W YORK CT

W VIE NNA WAY

PORT WELLER
C T

COQUILLE DR S M
UN

IC
H 

CT

MERRITTON CT

HARVEST DR

ASTER CT

SUN RIVER DR

SUN RIVER DR

FIVE OAKS DR

HOME CTNETHERBY WAY

FLAGSTONE TURN

SUN RIVER PT

S PERTH CT

W CHIMAY CT

AZURE DR

VENEZIA DR

JA
CK

SO
N 

BR
AN

CH
 C

T

JEANETTE CT

MISTY FALLS CIR

SWANSTONE CT
AZURE CIR

S DUBLIN CIR

RUBY CT

S JACKSON BR

QUARTZ CT

Zoning Map - Olde Stone 1st Addition

µ

0 500 1,000250
Feet

E-R

R-2

E-R

R-2

R-2



National Flood Hazard Layer FIRMette

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000250
Feet

Ü

SEE FIS REPORT FOR DETAILED LEGEND AND INDEX MAP FOR FIRM PANEL LAYOUT

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREAS

Without Base Flood Elevation (BFE)
Zone A, V, A99

With BFE or DepthZone AE, AO, AH, VE, AR

Regulatory Floodway

0.2% Annual Chance Flood Hazard, Areas
of 1% annual chance flood with average
depth less than one foot or with drainage
areas of less than one square mileZone X

Future Conditions 1% Annual
Chance Flood HazardZone X

Area with Reduced Flood Risk due to
Levee. See Notes.Zone X

Area with Flood Risk due to LeveeZone D

NO SCREENArea of Minimal Flood HazardZone X

Area of Undetermined Flood HazardZone D

Channel, Culvert, or Storm Sewer

Levee, Dike, or Floodwall

Cross Sections with 1% Annual Chance
17.5 Water Surface Elevation

Coastal Transect

Coastal Transect Baseline
Profile Baseline
Hydrographic Feature

Base Flood Elevation Line (BFE)

Effective LOMRs

Limit of Study
Jurisdiction Boundary

Digital Data Available

No Digital Data Available

Unmapped

This map complies with FEMA's standards for the use of
digital flood maps if it is not void as described below.
The basemap shown complies with FEMA's basemap
accuracy standards

The flood hazard information is derived directly from the
authoritative NFHL web services provided by FEMA. This map
was exported on 3/15/2022 at 2:51 PM  and does not
reflect changes or amendments subsequent to this date and
time. The NFHL and effective information may change or
become superseded by new data over time.

This map image is void if the one or more of the following map
elements do not appear: basemap imagery, flood zone labels,
legend, scale bar, map creation date, community identifiers,
FIRM panel number, and FIRM effective date. Map images for
unmapped and unmodernized areas cannot be used for
regulatory purposes.

Legend

OTHER AREAS OF
FLOOD HAZARD

OTHER AREAS

GENERAL
STRUCTURES

OTHER
FEATURES

MAP PANELS

8

B
20.2

The pin displayed on the map is an approximate
point selected by the user and does not represent
an authoritative property location.

1:6,000

87°53'43"W 41°28'44"N

87°53'6"W 41°28'17"N

Basemap: USGS National Map: Orthoimagery: Data refreshed October, 2020



Olde Stone Village

Source: Esri, Maxar, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS,
USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

Wetlands
Estuarine and Marine Deepwater
Estuarine and Marine Wetland

Freshwater Emergent Wetland
Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland
Freshwater Pond

Lake
Other
Riverine

May 5, 2021

0 0.2 0.40.1 mi

0 0.3 0.60.15 km

1:11,924

This page was produced by the NWI mapper
National Wetlands Inventory (NWI)

This map is for general reference only. The US Fish and Wildlife 
Service is not responsible for the accuracy or currentness of the 
base data shown on this map. All wetlands related data should 
be used in accordance with the layer metadata found on the 
Wetlands Mapper web site.

STEGER RD

W
O

LF R
D



Lot # Lot Size Lot Size After Combinations

1 21,720 21,720

2 24,494

3 31,033

4 23,455 23,455

5 21,756 21,756

6 18,453 18,453

7 16,739 16,739

8 15,000 15,000

9 17,024 17,024

10 23,303 23,303

11 23,471 23,471

12 15,583 15,583

13 15,000 15,000

14 18,034 18,034

15 24,079 24,079

16 31,061 31,061

17 22,694 22,694

18 20,766 20,766

19 19,090 19,090

20 17,191 17,191

21 29,482 29,482

22 25,658 25,658

23 20,107 20,107

24 16,517 16,517

25 20,163 20,163

26 17,751 17,751

27 18,307 18,307

28 17,197 17,197

29 18,112 18,112

30 15,003 15,003

31 18,250 18,250

32 19,767 19,767

33 17,213 17,213

34 16,877 16,877

35 20,112 20,112

36 20,520 20,520

37 20,176 20,176

38 21,455 21,455

39 19,581 19,581

40 18,689

41 16,824

42 21,842 21,842

43 36,482 36,482

44 22,546 22,546

45 22,784 22,784

55,527

35,513



46 19,603 19,603

47 18,527 18,527

48 17,859 17,859

49 18,366 18,366

50 21,130 21,130

51 19,772 19,772

52 45,393 45,393

54 23,369 23,369

55 19,845

56 20,461

57 16,421

58 16,247

59 20,068 20,068

60 22,916 22,916

61 28,634 28,634

62 20,805 20,805

63 22,880 22,880

64 23,876 23,876

65 22,736 22,736

66 17,632 17,632

67 16,745 16,745

68 19,169 19,169

69 18,092 18,092

70 16,653 16,653

71 16,161 16,161

72 19,467 19,467

73 23,201 23,201

74 15,591 15,591

75 15,780 15,780

76 15,062 15,062

77 15,955 15,955

78 22,280 22,280

79 18,575 18,575

80 17,612 17,612

81 20,183 20,183

82 26,591 26,591

83 18,120 18,120

84 16,891 16,891

85 15,463 15,463

86 17,273 17,273

87 15,268 15,268

88 18,714 18,714

89 23,142 23,142

90 25,751 25,751

91 19,203 19,203

92 19,197 19,197

93 24,822 24,822

32,668

40,306



94 21,088 21,088

95 17,226 17,226

96 16,146 16,146

97 15,308 15,308

98 19,323 19,323

99 17,298 17,298

100 15,517 15,517

101 15,102 15,102

102 15,058 15,058

103 15,383 15,383

104 24,046 24,046

105 19,779 19,779

106 19,566 19,566

107 20,842 20,842

108 25,338 25,338

109 26,865 26,865

AV. LOT SIZE (whole subdivision) 20,211 20,988

AV. LOT SIZE (east) 20,188 21,223

AV. LOT SIZE (west) 20,224 20,847

AV. LOT SIZE (Vienna Way pre consolidations)  20,226 23,115

AV. LOT SIZE (Vienna Way post consolidations)  26,967 32,361



Lot # Size (SF)

1 Outlot C

2 16,799

3 16,799

4 17,071

5 27,648

6 28,525

7 25,054

8 20,994

9 16,174

10 17,704

11 17,851

12 17,851

13 17,000

14 17,000

15 17,851

16 17,813

AVG 19,476

1st Addition (Vienna Way)



cgruba
Highlight







 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Amendment Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section D, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every amendment or zoning classification change request. The 
Plan Commission must consider the following five findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist 
the Plan Commission in their review of the amendment request(s), please provide responses to the 
following “Findings of Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. Existing uses of property within the general area of the property in question; 
 
 
 
 
2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question; 
 
 
 
 
3. The suitability of the property in question to the uses permitted under the existing zoning 

classification;  
 
 
 
 
4. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including changes, 

if any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification; 
 
 
 
 
5. The change in zoning is in conformance with the comprehensive plan of the Village and its official 

map. 
 
 
 

Single Family Residential

R-2

Current zoning would allow for large estate lots that are not cohesive with the 
surrounding properties.

The trend in the surrounding properties is R-2 single family which is being asked for.

Property is in conformance with the comprehensive plan.



From: Tom Murray
To: Dave Tkac; Chris Gruba
Cc: Harold Damron
Subject: RE: pedestrian connection to parcel 19-09-31-400-011-0000
Date: Friday, May 21, 2021 2:00:30 PM

Hi Chris and Dave,
 
Thank you for making me aware of this project.  While the land that our radio tower is located on is
the property of Will County, due to its history of initially being a FAA site, the use of this property is
regulated by the General Service Administration (GSA).  The regulations stipulate that if the property
is used for anything outside of law enforcement or public safety, Will County would forfeit the site
and the property would revert back to the Federal Government.  This parcel cannot be used for
recreational (or any other) use.
 
This site is an important part of the Will County Radio System that serves the Will County Sheriff,
Frankfort Police Department, Frankfort Fire Protection District, and a number of other public safety
agencies.  Loss of this site would be extremely detrimental to the overall performance of our radio
system.
 
Based on this information, we object to the Village of Frankfort’s proposed use of this parcel.
 
Should you wish to discuss this further, please feel free to contact me.  My information is below.
 
Tom
 
 
Thomas Murray
Chief Deputy Director
Will County Emergency Management Agency
302 N. Chicago St.
Joliet, Illinois 60432
(815) 740-8392 - Ph
(815) 723-8895 - Fx
tmurray@willcountyillinois.com
 
 
 
 

From: Dave Tkac <dtkac@willcountyillinois.com> 
Sent: Friday, May 21, 2021 1:15 PM
To: 'Chris Gruba' <cgruba@frankfortil.org>
Cc: Tom Murray <tmurray@willcountyillinois.com>
Subject: RE: pedestrian connection to parcel 19-09-31-400-011-0000
 
Hi Chris,

mailto:tmurray@willcountyillinois.com
mailto:dtkac@willcountyillinois.com
mailto:cgruba@frankfortil.org
mailto:hdamron@willcountyillinois.com
mailto:tmurray@willcountyillinois.com




Received 11.9.21



cgruba
Received



RECEIVED 3.4.22







cgruba
Received





Received 11.9.21

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight


	March 24, 2022
	PC Minutes 3.10.22 DRAFT
	A. Approval of the Minutes from February 24, 2022

	Binder1-247
	1. Staff report 3.24.22 public hearing - Quinlan
	2. GIS aerial
	3. Tax Map - 247 Hickory
	4. Variance findings of fact
	Variance findings of fact
	Comperable home 117 Maple

	5. Plat of Survey 11.24.21
	6. Final Plat 2.18.22
	7. Site Plan 2.18.22
	8. Floorplans & Elevations 3.1.22
	9. pics 2 per page

	Binder1-19948
	1. Staff report 3.24.22 public hearing - Gale
	2. GIS map
	3. Survey
	4. Submittal 3.1.22
	5. Findings of Fact (applicant respnoses)
	6. Frankfort Assessors - floorplan
	7. HOA approval

	Grace
	Binder1-Olde
	1. Staff Report 3.24.22 (public hearing) - Olde Stone
	2. GIS Map
	3. Zoning Map
	4. FEMA Map
	5. National Wetlands Inventory Map
	5.5 Olde Stone Village Lot Size Analysis (Chris) 3.15.22
	5.6 PC Minutes 05.13.2021 - (excerpt)
	5.7 Findings of Fact - Rezoning (applicant responses)
	5.8 email 5.21.21 - Will County
	8. Final Plat - Olde Stone Village (Original 2005)
	9. Survey 11.9.21
	10. Plat of Annexation 2.2.22
	11. Final Plat 3.4.22
	12. Site Plan 3.17.22
	13. Landscape Plan 2.14.22
	Landscape Plan 2.14.22
	old stone L-2_Landscape M&M Plan

	14. Tree Survey 11.9.21


